2008

# Michael H. Jensen v. Allen K. Young : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This is an appeal from a summary judgment issued by the Honorable Samuel McVey, Fourth District Court, dismissing a legal malpractice action by Dr. Michael H. Jensen (“Jensen”), against Appellee Allen K. Young (“Young”). The Utah Supreme Court has original appellate jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78A-3-102.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED**

**ISSUE:** Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment on the ground that the four year statute of limitations had run on Jensen’s legal malpractice action by April of 2003 when Jensen did not discover his injury until this Court overturned a jury verdict in his favor in 2005?

**Standard of Appellate Review:** The Utah Supreme Court reviews a trial court’s decision granting summary judgment for correctness, giving no deference to its legal conclusions. See Progressive Cas. Ins. Co. v. Ewart, 2007 UT 52, ¶9, 167 P.3d 1011. All facts and reasonable inferences are viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. See id. at ¶2.

**Preservation of Issue:** Young raised and briefed this issue in his summary judgment memoranda. (R. 388-180; 749-565.)<sup>1</sup> Jensen also addressed this issue in his Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 548-430.)

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES,  
ORDINANCES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS**

Utah Code Ann. § 78B-2-307(3) (2008) states, “An action may be brought within four years: (3) for relief not otherwise provided by law.”

Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is determinative of the issues presented and is included in the Addendum due to its length. Utah R. Civ. P. 56.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**A. Nature of the Case.**

This is a legal malpractice case brought by Jensen against Young. It arises out of a claim Jensen brought against United Television, Inc. (KTVX or Channel 4) and Mary Sawyers, a reporter for Channel 4 News for damages caused by three defamatory broadcasts that were harmful to Jensen’s reputation and ultimately to his medical practice. The three broadcasts occurred respectively on September 5, 1995; June 17, 1996; and November 6, 1996. See Jensen v. Sawyers, 2005 UT 81, ¶¶ 12-17, 130 P.3d

---

<sup>1</sup> For reference, each file in the record is reverse paginated. Therefore, the page number of the first page of a document is higher than the page number of the last page of the same document. In this brief, we cite the first page first, although it is the higher number, i.e. (R. 30-22).

325. Young filed suit on Jensen's behalf in June of 1997, following the third broadcast. Jensen's causes of action included fraud and misrepresentation, intentional interference with prospective economic relations, negligent misrepresentation, defamation of character, and negligence. Id., ¶ 18. Sawyers and KTVX filed for summary judgment based on the one year statute of limitations for defamation, and Jensen's defamation claim was dismissed. His fraud and misrepresentation claims were also dismissed. Id. However, the court simultaneously allowed Jensen, represented by counsel he hired to replace Young, to amend his complaint to add claims including false light invasion of privacy that would not be affected by the one year statute of limitations for defamation. Id., ¶ 20. The Jury returned a verdict in Jensen's favor and awarded him \$2,940,900 in damages. On appeal, this Court overturned the jury verdict, holding that Jensen's false light invasion of privacy claims were barred by the one year statute of limitations for defamation. Id., ¶ 143.

On February 7, 2007, Jensen filed this suit against Young alleging malpractice for failure to file suit before the statute of limitations ran. Jensen had not done so earlier because, until this Court reversed the jury verdict in 2005, he did not believe he had been injured by Young's mistake since his claim was successful and he was awarded a multimillion dollar jury verdict.

**B. Course of Proceedings.**

After discovery was completed, Young filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on Jensen's legal malpractice claims on three grounds:

- 1) That Jensen's malpractice claims were barred by the four year statute of limitations for legal malpractice.
- 2) That an attorney-client relationship had not formed between Young and Jensen prior to the second broadcast.
- 3) That Jensen's punitive damage claim relating to the first and second broadcast was effectively barred by the Supreme Court's decision in Jensen v. Young.

(R. 386-385.)

Jensen filed an opposition memorandum (R. 548-430), arguing that the discovery rule should apply to toll the statute of limitations until after the issuance of Jensen v. Young. Young filed a reply memorandum (R. 749-563), as well as a supplemental memorandum. (R. 898-767.) Jensen opposed the supplemental memorandum, but later consented to it during oral arguments. (R. 958 p. 2-3.)

**C. Disposition of the Court Below.**

The Fourth District Court entered summary judgment dismissing Jensen's claims on July 22, 2008. (R. 947-944.) The court held that summary judgment was appropriate because the statute of limitations began to run on Jensen's claims, at the latest, on April 22, 1999, which is the date on which Jensen's defamation claim was dismissed and he was allowed to amend his complaint. (R. 945.) The court deemed as a potential question of fact whether Young and Jensen formed an attorney-client relationship prior to the second broadcast, but declined to address that question because the statute of limitations effectively dismissed all of Jensen's claims. (R. 946.) Once his complaint was dismissed, Jensen timely filed for this appeal. (R. 951-949.)

**D. Statement of Relevant Facts.**

**1. Timeline of Critical Dates and Events.**

The following is an outline of critical events and dates to assist the Court in the review of Jensen's appeal.

**i. The Chanel 4 Broadcasts.**

1. September 5, 1995- First broadcast aired by KTVX on Jensen.
2. June 17, 1996- Second broadcast aired by KTVX on Jensen.
3. November 6, 1996- Third broadcast aired by KTVX on Jensen.

**ii. Trial Court Procedural History in Jensen v. Sawyers.**

1. September 6, 1995- Columbia FirstMed terminated Jensen's employment. Mountain View Hospital in Utah County revoked Jensen's privileges to practice medicine at the facility. IHC Health Plans removed Jensen from its insurance panel. The Department of Professional Licensing started an investigation of Jensen.
2. September 1995- Jensen meets with Young to discuss filing a lawsuit against KTVX in conjunction with the first broadcast. Young informed Jensen that prior to acceptance of the lawsuit, he wanted to wait for the outcome of the DOPL investigation. Young also told Jensen that the case was likely worth a lot of money, and discussed his success in past cases. At the time, Jensen believed Young to be his lawyer, even though no retainer agreement had been signed.
3. April 9, 1997- Jensen signed a fee agreement retaining Young to represent him in filing suit against KTVX and Sawyers.
4. June 27, 1997- Young filed a Complaint on Jensen's behalf asserting claims for defamation arising out of the three broadcasts.

5. January 28, 1999- Young formally withdrew as Jensen's attorney.
6. April 22, 1999- The trial court grants KTVX and Sawyer's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment dismissing Jensen's defamation claims arising from the First and Second Broadcast because the Complaint was filed after the defamation statute of limitations had expired.
7. April 22, 1999- The same day that Jensen's defamation claims were dismissed, the trial court allowed Jensen to amend his Complaint to plead false light invasion of privacy relating to both the First and Second Broadcast.
8. October 25, 2001- Final judgment was entered by the trial court in Jensen v. Sawyers reflecting a jury verdict in favor of Jensen for false light invasion of privacy on the First and Second Broadcasts. Jensen was awarded \$520,000.00 in economic loss damages, \$85,000.00 in general damages, and \$245,300.00 in punitive damages. The jury also returned a verdict for Jensen on the Third Broadcast for false light invasion of privacy and defamation,

awarding him \$1,000,000.00 in economic loss, \$500,000.00 in general damages, and \$450,600.00 in punitive damages.

**iii. Appellate Procedural History in Jensen v. Sawyers.**

1. November 15, 2005- The Supreme Court ruled that Jensen's claims for false light invasion of privacy on the First and Second Broadcasts were barred by the one year defamation statute of limitations. The Court reversed the \$1,000,000.00 economic loss award relating to the Third Broadcast, ruling that there was no evidence to support that award because the evidence demonstrated that all of Jensen's economic loss was caused by the First Broadcast.

**iv. Trial Court Procedural History in Jensen v. Young.**

1. February 7, 2007- Jensen filed suit against Young for legal malpractice.
2. July 23, 2008- The trial court grants Young's Motion for Summary Judgment finding that Jensen's legal malpractice claims began to run not later than April 22, 1999. This is the day when the trial court in Jensen v. Sawyers dismissed the defamation claims arising from the First and Second Broadcasts and simultaneously allowed Jensen to



amend his Complaint to plead false light invasion of privacy.

Consequently, under the trial court's paradigm, the statute of limitations on Jensen's legal malpractice claim expired on April 21, 2003.

## **2. Events leading to the underlying claim.**

The events leading to Jensen's original claim against Mary Sawyers and KTVX began when Sawyers, a reporter for Channel 4 news, approached Jensen about obtaining weight loss medication because, as she told Jensen, she had gained weight and was in danger of losing her job as a news reporter because she looked bad on camera. Jensen, 2005 UT 81, ¶ 4. Jensen told Sawyers she should come to his office to discuss treatment options, not knowing he would be the victim of a news channel sting operation.

Ms. Sawyers made an appointment with Jensen, and appeared for treatment at his office wearing a hidden camera and recorder, which she used to record her visit with Dr. Jensen. Id., ¶ 7. Jensen prescribed two weight loss drugs, and he and Sawyers had a conversation about possible alternative medication if what was prescribed was ineffective, including use of the drug Dexedrine. Id. Sawyers later met with Jensen to interview him about the weight loss drugs, and confronted him about whether the drugs he prescribed, and the manner in which he prescribed them were safe. Id. Portions of the

recordings from Sawyers's initial appointment and her interview with Jensen were later used in three Channel 4 news broadcasts, originally aired on September 5, 1995; June 17, 1996; and November 6, 1996, in which Jensen was accused of prescribing the medication too freely, and prescribing medicines that should not be taken together. Id., ¶ 12. The broadcasts resulted in damage to Jensen's medical career, and action by the State Department of Professional Licensing (DOPL). Id., ¶ 14. Jensen retained attorney Max Wheeler to defend him in the DOPL investigation, and sought additional counsel to represent him in a civil suit against Sawyers and KTVX for the injury the broadcast caused. (R. 291.)

### **3. Jensen's relationship with Young.**

Soon after the first broadcast, Jensen was introduced to Young, who offered his services regarding possible claims against Sawyers and KTVX. (R. 661.) Two to three weeks later, Jensen and Young met in Young's office. (R. 656.) Young was shown the tape of the first broadcast, and informed Jensen that he liked the case, calling it "sexy." Id. He said he was willing to take the case. (R. 488-487.) However, Young informed Jensen that, prior to taking the case, he wanted to wait for the outcome of the DOPL investigation. (R. 655.) Young also told Jensen that the case was likely worth a lot of money, and discussed his success in past cases. (R. 294.) At the time, Jensen believed Young to be his lawyer, even though no retainer agreement had been signed. (R. 483.)

Although Jensen and Young discussed the case and the possibility of bringing defamation as a cause of action, Young did not warn Jensen about any issues with the short, one year statute of limitations for defamation claims.

From the time of the first meeting until November of 1996, after the airing of the third broadcast, Jensen and Young's contact was limited. Jensen believes that he met with Young briefly sometime after the second broadcast to show him a recording of the broadcast. (R. 288, 486-485.) However, his concern during that time was mostly with defending himself against the DOPL investigation, which concluded on October 30, 1996. (R. 213.) Jensen also met with other attorneys during that time to discuss his injuries and possible claims against others, including the state, although he decided not to pursue those claims or retain those attorneys. (R. 631-629, 479-474, 285-284.) Nonetheless, Jensen considered Young to be his attorney for the purposes of suing KTVX and Sawyers, and believed that he had accepted the case. (R. 483.)

Jensen and Young met more frequently after the third broadcast. Jensen sent Young a letter and a recording of the third broadcast on November 12, 1996. (R. 601.) Young responded to him that, "we shouldn't sit on this any longer, the third newscast is inflammatory and we need to file a complaint." (R. 273.) Jensen signed a fee agreement on April 9, 1997 for Young to represent him against KTVX and Sawyers. (R. 261-260.) On June 27, 1997, more than one year after the first and second broadcasts, Young filed a

complaint asserting claims for defamation arising out of each of the three broadcasts. (R. 314-306.)

**4. The underlying case after the statute of limitations was missed.**

Shortly after filing the complaint, Young contacted Jensen and informed him that there was a one year statute of limitations on defamation claims and that he had “blown” the statute with respect to the first and second broadcasts. (R. 473.) However, rather than taking responsibility for the mistake, or informing Jensen of the potentially severe consequences, Young tried to downplay the mistake. When Jensen asked how missing the statute of limitations affected his case, Young responded, “I’m sure this is an issue, but I’m going after fraud and also defamation. It’s not like we just—you know—dinner’s ruined. We can work with this.” (R. 473.) Young downplayed the defamation cause of action and insisted that Jensen’s actionable claims arising from the first and second broadcasts arose from claims of fraud. (R. 441.) Young withdrew as Jensen’s counsel on unrelated grounds on January 28, 1999. (Docket, Jensen v. Sawyers, Fourth District Court, Provo, Case No. 9704000512.)

Thereafter, Sawyers and KTVX filed a motion for summary judgment based on the missed statute of limitations, and also seeking to dismiss the fraud causes of action that Young had alleged on Jensen’s behalf. Jensen, 2005 UT 81, ¶18. Jensen, through his replacement counsel concurrently sought to amend his complaint to include claims of

false light invasion of privacy. Id., ¶19-20. The trial court granted both motions. At the time his defamation claims were dismissed, Jensen admittedly knew that his case had been “disadvantaged.” (R. 248-245.) However, Young’s mistake was apparently remedied. The trial proceeded, and the jury issued a verdict in Jensen’s favor on his false light claims, awarding him \$2,940,900 in damages. Jensen, 2005 UT 81, ¶ 22.

Jensen did not realize the gravity of Young’s mistake until this Court overturned his award in 2005. Id., ¶ 143. The Court held that his false light claim was barred by the one year defamation statute of limitations, and significantly reduced his award. Id. Upon discovering his injury, Jensen brought this suit in 2007 to recover damages from Young.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This Court should overturn the trial court’s grant of summary judgment and, due to the special circumstances of this case, apply the discovery rule to toll the statute of limitations until after the issuance of this Court’s opinion in Jensen v. Sawyers.

The application of the discovery rule analysis dictates that when an injured party does not know, and should not have known of his injury, the Court applies a balancing test to determine if special circumstances warrant application of the discovery rule. In a legal malpractice case, where damages and injury are speculative and remote at the time the malpractice is committed, injury is not ascertainable until the resolution of the underlying suit from which the malpractice arose.

Jensen did not know of his injuries because at the time when Young missed the statute of limitations, and even when the trial court dismissed Jensen's defamation claims, injury was too speculative and remote for Jensen to ascertain. This is because Jensen was allowed to amend his complaint, and as a layman, he believed that Young's mistake was remedied. It was not until this Court overturned his multimillion dollar verdict in 2005 that Jensen realized he had been injured by the dismissal of the defamation claims several years earlier. To rule that Jensen could have known of his injury prior to that time would require clairvoyance beyond what should be expected of a lay individual. Further, it would prevent Jensen from fully recovering for his injuries, as his damages were merely speculative at the time the trial court in this case found that the legal malpractice cause of action had run.

Once it is shown that the party did not know, and could not have known of his injuries, the Court should balance the hardship the statute of limitations places on the plaintiff against any prejudice to the defendant resulting from the difficulties of proof caused by the passage of time. In this case, to not apply the discovery rule would essentially bar Jensen's claim entirely. If the discovery rule did not apply, he would have been forced to bring a claim at a time when he could not assert a non-speculative injury, and thus would not be able to assert malpractice. At very best, he could have recovered attorneys' fees for the cost of amending his complaint—a fraction of what he was injured

by Young's malpractice. Because the facts required to litigate this case were easily discoverable through deposition and through a written record, Young would not be greatly burdened by the passage of time. In fact, the arguments he would have made defending the legal malpractice action if it were filed earlier are all still available to him at this time. In short, Young would not be greatly burdened by the application of the discovery rule. Conversely, if this Court does not apply the rule, Jensen will suffer great injustice.

In order to ensure just results in this rare case where Jensen's malpractice injury is masked by a favorable jury verdict, this Court should hold that the discovery rule applies to toll the statute of limitations until the jury's verdict was overturned by an adverse appellate decision. Not applying the discovery rule in this rare circumstance would leave injured parties, such as Dr. Jensen, without recourse simply because they prevailed in the trial of the underlying case.

The requirements for application of the discovery rule are met here, as Jensen did not know, and should not have known of his injury, and thus the nature of this case creates an extraordinary circumstance. Therefore, Appellant asks this Court to overturn the grant of summary judgment and apply the discovery rule in this case.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS HAD RUN ON JENSEN'S LEGAL MALPRACTICE CLAIM BECAUSE EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES WARRANT THE APPLICATION OF THE DISCOVERY RULE TO TOLL THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS UNTIL THIS COURT RULED IN THE UNDERLYING MATTER.**

This Court's opinion in Jensen v. Sawyers was one of the facts that ultimately gave rise to Jensen's cause of action against Young, because it was not until the case was decided on appeal that Jensen knew he had been damaged by Young's negligence. Because of the extraordinary circumstances in this case, this Court should overturn the grant of summary judgment and apply the discovery rule to toll the four year statute of limitations for legal malpractice until after this Court issued its decision in Jensen v. Sawyers.

The discovery rule is a judicially created doctrine that serves to toll the statute of limitations until after "the plaintiff learns of or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have learned of the facts which give rise to the cause of action." Williams v. Howard, 970 P.2d 1282, 1284 (Utah 1998). The rule applies in three situations: "1) where mandated by statute, 2) where a plaintiff is unaware of a cause of action because of the defendant's misleading conduct or concealment, and 3) where application is warranted by the existence of special circumstances that would, based on a balancing test, render the application of the statute of limitations unjust or irrational." Id. at 1285.

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