2009

Michael H. Jensen v. Allen K. Young : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Because the special circumstances exception cannot otherwise be applied, it is not necessary to balance the hardships. However, if a balancing analysis were performed, the hardships clearly favor Young. Dr. Jensen's eight year delay in filing suit substantially prejudiced Young's ability to defend this case because of a lack of records and fading

memories. The only prejudice that Dr. Jensen has pointed to is that his claims would be barred if the statute of limitations is applied, which is the normal result of applying the statute of limitations.

Even if it were assumed for argument that Dr. Jensen's claims are not barred by the statute of limitations, Dr. Jensen's economic loss and punitive damage claims are without merit and should be dismissed for two additional reasons not reached by the district court. This Court can affirm on any basis that the district court could have granted summary judgment.

First, this Court ruled in the *Sawyers* Case that all of Dr. Jensen's economic loss was suffered as a result of the First Broadcast. The undisputed evidence demonstrated below that Dr. Jensen did not retain Young to represent him until months after the statute of limitations on the claim relating to the First Broadcast had expired. Indeed, Dr. Jensen's contact with Young prior to the expiration of the statute of limitation was limited to a telephone call of one minute or less and one alleged meeting in September 1995 during which Dr. Jensen admits that Young told him that he wanted to await the results of the DOPL investigation before deciding whether to take the case. After that meeting, Dr. Jensen met with two other attorneys to attempt to get them to take his case and acknowledged in February 1997 that Young had not yet agreed to take the case.

Second, Dr. Jensen's claims for punitive damages are barred by this Court's decision in the *Sawyers* Case that no actual malice relating to the Third Broadcast was proven because Dr. Jensen relies upon the same statements made in the First and Second Broadcasts that were repeated in the Third Broadcast and which this Court has held were insufficient to demonstrate actual malice.

VI.

ARGUMENT

A. **DR. JENSEN'S MALPRACTICE CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.**

The district court correctly held that Dr. Jensen's malpractice claims against Young are barred by the statute of limitations contained in Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-25(3) (renumbered to 78B-2-307(3)) "for relief not otherwise provided for by law". The statute of limitations on a legal malpractice claim "begins to run upon the occurrence of the last event required to form the elements of the cause of action." *Williams v. Howard*, 970 P.2d 1282, 1284 (Utah 1998). The statute of limitations for Dr. Jensen's defamation claims was one year as provided by Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4) (renumbered to 78B-2-302(4)). Dr. Jensen lost his defamation claims when Young allegedly failed to timely file the claim relating to the First Broadcast by September 4, 1996, and failed to file the

claim relating to the Second Broadcast by June 16, 1997.³ Dr. Jensen's claims against Young accrued at that time and the statute of limitations commenced running. The very latest date the claims could have accrued and the statute of limitations commenced was April 22, 1999, when the defamation claims were dismissed in the *Sawyers* Case and Dr. Jensen had incurred substantial attorneys' fees as a result of the alleged malpractice.⁴ *Williams*, 970 P.2d at 1284. Dr. Jensen did not file the present suit until February 7, 2007, approximately ten years after his defamation claims were barred by the statute of limitations and eight years after the defamation claims were dismissed. Consequently, Dr. Jensen's malpractice claims are barred by the four year statute of limitations.

1. **The Special Circumstances Prong of the Discovery Rule Cannot Be Applied Because Dr. Jensen Knew of the Alleged Malpractice and that He Had Been Damaged Back in 1997 and 1999.**

In his brief, Dr. Jensen argues incorrectly that the discovery rule should be applied to toll the statute of limitations until this Court issued its decision in the underlying *Sawyers* Case on November 15, 2005, because special circumstances supposedly exist that render the application of the normal statute of limitations rule that the statute begins to run when the legal malpractice is committed unjust and irrational. The only "special circumstance"

³ For purposes of this argument only, Young is assuming that Young was retained within a year after the First Broadcast, though, as demonstrated below, that did not occur.

⁴Dr. Jensen did not appeal the dismissal of the defamation claims.

pointed to by Dr. Jensen is that he supposedly could not have known and did not know that he had a cause of action against Young for malpractice until this Court reversed his jury verdict and that prior to that time any damages were too remote and speculative where his “claims against KTVX were seemingly successfully amended to an alternative tort theory.” [Aplt’s Br. at pp. 17-27.] Dr. Jensen ignores the record by arguing that as an untrained layman he could not possibly have understood he was damaged before this Court ruled in the *Sawyers* Case in 2005. This argument finds no support in the law and is simply not faithful to the record below.

The special circumstances rule is reserved “for ‘more egregious circumstances.’ [C]ourts should be cautious in tolling a statute of limitations, liberal tolling could potentially cause greater hardships than it would ultimately relieve.” *Grynberg v. Questar Pipeline Co.*, 2003 UT 8, ¶ 65-66, 70 P.3d. 1, 17. The rule can only be applied where the plaintiff did not and could not have discovered the claim prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations and it would be “truly ‘irrational’ or ‘unjust’ to apply a statute of limitations.” *Id.*

In *Williams*, *supra*, the trial court had denied the Defendant attorney’s motion for summary judgment on the basis of the four year statute of limitations, holding that the discovery rule applied and that the suit was filed within four years of discovery of the

malpractice. This Court reversed, holding that the statute of limitations commenced when the attorney failed to timely file the client's claim. The Court applied the traditional rule as to the applicability of the discovery rule:

There are three situations in which we have determined that application of the discovery rule is appropriate: (1) where the application of the rule is mandated by statute; (2) where a plaintiff is unaware of a cause of action because of the defendant's misleading conduct or concealment; and (3) where application is warranted by the existence of special circumstances that would, based on a balancing test, render application of the statute of limitations unjust or irrational.

Williams, 970 P.2d at 1285.

The *Williams* Court held that the discovery rule was inapplicable in the face of claimed special circumstances because the client was informed of the malpractice and could have filed a malpractice suit before expiration of the normal statute of limitations.

In *Colosimo v. Roman Catholic Bishop of Salt Lake City*, 2007 UT 25, ¶ 19, 156 P.3d 806, 812, this Court reiterated its holding in *Williams*, stating “for this [special circumstances] exception to apply, ‘an initial showing must be made that the plaintiff did not know and could not have reasonably discovered the facts underlying the cause of action in time to commence an action within [the limitations period].’” [Footnote omitted.] See also *Beaver County v. Prop. Tax Div. of Utah State Tax Comm’n*, 2006 UT 6, ¶ 32,

128 P.3d 1187, 1194; *Estes v. Tibbs*, 1999 UT 52, ¶¶ 8-9, 979 P.2d 823, 824; *Warren v. Provo City Corp.*, 838 P.2d 1125, 1144 (Utah 1992).

The discovery rule cannot be applied in the present case because the undisputed evidence demonstrates Dr. Jensen knew of his malpractice claims and could have commenced suit long before the normal statute of limitations expired. According to Dr. Jensen's own story, shortly after the original complaint was filed against KTVX in 1997, Young informed him that Young had "blown" the statute with respect to the First and Second Broadcasts. [Aplt.'s Br. at p. 12.]⁵ Further, Dr. Jensen admittedly knew of the alleged malpractice at the latest when the district court dismissed the defamation claims relating to the First and Second Broadcasts on April 22, 1999. He testified that, in fact, he knew of the malpractice at that time and knew he had been "disadvantaged." [SOF No. 31.] Indeed, during oral argument below, Dr. Jensen's attorney conceded that Dr. Jensen

⁵ Dr. Jensen argued below that Young concealed his malpractice by telling Dr. Jensen that although he had "blown" the statute of limitations on the defamation claim Young was going after fraud, which claim was not affected by the statute of limitations problem and that this statement constituted misleading conduct or concealment, which was a ground for applying the discovery rule. Dr. Jensen has understandably abandoned this meritless argument on appeal. For purposes of argument, taking Dr. Jensen's testimony on its face, he knew there had been malpractice, he knew that it was an issue, but understood that Young was attempting to mitigate by asserting claims of fraud. Most fundamentally, Dr. Jensen's fraud and negligent misrepresentation claims against Sawyers and KTVX were dismissed by the trial court on April 22, 1999, at the same time that the defamation claims were dismissed. [SOF No. 31.] Thus, Dr. Jensen could not have been relying on his fraud claims for recovery after that date.

knew back in 1999 and before that Young “had blown . . . two statutes of limitation” and that Dr. Jensen “could have sued Mr. Young.” [R. 958 at p. 25.] Counsel stated the issue was whether the statute of limitations commenced before Dr. Jensen knew the “extent of the damages.” [*Id.*]

Moreover, Dr. Jensen’s new attorney, Gardiner, who replaced Young, testified he had conversations with Dr. Jensen shortly after the defamation claims were dismissed in April 1999, in which Dr. Jensen acknowledged and understood he had been damaged by the loss of his defamation claims. Dr. Jensen discussed with Gardiner suing Young for legal malpractice for not timely filing the claims and told Gardiner he believed he had a malpractice claim against Young. Gardiner told Dr. Jensen he would not personally sue other lawyers. Dr. Jensen said he would talk to Young and others about filing a malpractice case but that Dr. Jensen had not made up his mind whether he was going to sue Young. Gardiner testified he had similar conversations with Dr. Jensen about filing a malpractice claim against Young approximately three or four other times. [SOF No. 33.]

Gardiner testified that he understood that although the trial court had allowed Dr. Jensen to amend to assert invasion of privacy claims to mitigate damages resulting from the loss of the defamation claims, this Court may well rule on a *de novo* review of the statute that those claims were barred by the one year statute of limitations applicable to

defamation claims and that he so informed Dr. Jensen. [SOF No. 34.] At no time did Gardiner tell Dr. Jensen that the false light claims would fix whatever damage was done to him as a result of the dismissal of the defamation claims. [SOF No. 34.]⁶ Gardiner's testimony is not surprising (nor is it contradicted by Dr. Jensen). As this Court noted in the *Sawyers* Case: "The operative facts of his false light invasion of privacy claims alleged defamation. In fact, they are the same facts he pleaded under his defamation causes of action that were dismissed as untimely." *Jensen* 2005 UT 81 at ¶ 49. Thus, this Court ruled that Dr. Jensen's claims must be "classified as defamation claims." *Id.* at ¶ 34.

Indeed, this Court's decision in *Jensen v. Sawyers* that the one-year defamation statute of limitations applied to Dr. Jensen's false light claims that he was defamed was foretold by the Court's earlier decision in *Russell v. Thomson Newspapers Inc.*, 842 P.2d 896 (Utah 1992), which was decided three years before the First Broadcast. In *Russell*, the Court held that Utah's statutory "fair report" privilege applicable to allegations of defamation extended to a claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress based upon the same operative facts that gave rise to the defamation claims. *Id.* at 902-903. The *Russell* Court supported its holding by citing with approval cases in other states applying

⁶ Notably, Dr. Jensen never testified below why he decided not to sue Young back in 1999. Counsel's implicit argument that he did not do so because the *Sawyers* Case had not been decided is mere speculation unsupported by any evidence.

shorter statutes of limitations for defamation and libel to causes of action for false light invasion of privacy and intentional infliction of emotional distress based upon defamatory statements. *Id.* at 906, n. 37. And, in *Jensen v. Sawyers*, the Supreme Court noted that the cases that it relied upon in *Russell*:

. . . to buttress the merits of applying the fair report privilege to a cause of action closely allied to defamation are equally persuasive for the actual proposition they advanced: that the statute of limitations for defamation governs the claims based on the same operative facts that would support a defamation action.

2005 UT 81 at ¶ 53.

Moreover, Dr. Jensen knew he was damaged not only by loss of the defamation claims but by the money spent in opposing the motion to dismiss those claims and obtaining permission to allege the false light claims. Dr. Jensen incurred approximately \$15,000 in fees in early 1999 in opposing the dismissal of the defamation claims and obtaining permission to amend his complaint to allege the false light claims. [SOF No. 32.] This damage alone was sufficient to trigger the commencement of the statute of limitations.

Thus, the discovery rule is inapplicable because back in 1999 when Dr. Jensen clearly knew at the latest that he had been damaged both by the loss of his defamation claims and the attorneys fees he incurred in fighting dismissal he still had well over sixteen

months to file his alleged malpractice claim relating to the First Broadcast and over two years to file his alleged malpractice claim relating to the Second Broadcast.

These facts are not disputed and Dr. Jensen does not really argue that he did not know he had been damaged at least by 1999. Instead, he insists the statute should not commence until he knew the full extent of his damages. Dr. Jensen has been unable to cite a single case where a court has held that the statute of limitations does not commence running until a plaintiff knows the full extent of his injuries. Certainly, that is not the law in Utah. A cause of action accrues when injury is inflicted, not when the amount of damages is later determined or when all damages are incurred and known. *See, e.g., Jepson v. State Dep't of Corrections*, 846 P.2d 485, 488 (Utah App. 1993) (“[W]e conclude that Jepson’s cause of action against the State accrued on the date of the accident. At that point, Jepson had sustained injury to support a cause of action, irrespective of whether ‘the full extent of damages had been ascertained. . . .’”).

For example, in *Cedar Profl Plaza LC v. Cedar City Corp.*, 2006 UT App. 36, ¶ 14, 131 P.3d 275, the Utah Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment dismissing the complaint for failure to comply with the pre-suit notice requirements of the Governmental Immunity Act, rejecting the plaintiff’s argument that it did not know of its claim within the statute of limitations. The Court ruled that the plaintiff “was not entitled to wait until it

knew all of the facts supporting its negligence claim,” but it was enough that the plaintiff was aware that the defendant’s “action or inaction had resulted in some kind of harm to its interest,” quoting from *Bank One Utah NA v. West Jordan City*, 2002 UT App. 271, ¶ 12, 54 P.3d 135.

In *Williams v. Howard*, *supra*, this Court held that the statute commenced running when the malpractice occurred even though the plaintiff still had a claim against the manufacturer of the defective water meter cover, by which claim the plaintiff could have mitigated some or all of his damages. *See also Armstrong v. McMurray*, 2005 UT App 88 (applying *Williams*); *Schwinn v. Cook*, 2004 UT App 372 (same).

Similarly, in *Watkiss & Saperstein v. Williams*, 931 P.2d 840, 843-844 (Utah 1996), a case upon which Dr. Jensen placed significant weight below, a malpractice claim was barred by the statute of limitations under District of Columbia law because the statute began running when the client incurred \$7,235 in additional legal fees as a result of the attorney’s alleged malpractice in applying for an FTC television station license to attempt to avoid the harm caused by the malpractice, not when the FTC later denied the television station license. (*citing Knight v. Furlow*, 553 A.2d 1232 (D.C. 1989)).

And, in *Brown v. Behles & Davis*, 86 P.3d 605, 608 (N.M. App. 2004), the court held that the malpractice cause of action accrued at the date of the alleged malpractice

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